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Responding 
to need in 

country  
Australia



Though we are traditionally known for aeromedical emergency services in unforgiving landscapes, 
harsh climates and isolated communities – this is only part of the RFDS story. With more than nine 
decades of experience, today the RFDS operates an expansive medical emergency and primary 
health care service throughout Australia. These include 24/7 telehealth services, primary health 
care clinics, dental and mental health services, and most recently, testing and respiratory clinics 
for COVID-19. We work to improve health outcomes for country Australia and for that reason, 
we remain one of Australia’s most trusted charities.

The RFDS journey is one of innovation, grit and determination. It is about the patient regardless of 
the challenges that presents. Moving ahead to our centennial celebrations in 2028, this focus will be 
paramount. RFDS research and collaboration with governments, industry, partners and communities 
will continue to overcome the disparity in health outcomes for people in the bush.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service has been providing 
medical services to country Australia since 1928.

Mission
To provide excellence in 
aeromedical and primary 
health care across Australia

Values
Dedication 
Integrity 
Innovation
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Message from the  
Federation Board Chair and 
Federation Executive Director

What a welcome to the Royal Flying Doctor Service,  
this has been a remarkable year.

At the end of 2019 the organisation thanked outgoing 
Federation Chair, Hon Ms Amanda Vanstone AO, and outgoing 
Chief Executive Officer, Dr Martin Laverty, for their exceptional 
service to the Federation.

Their efforts left the organisation in a much stronger place 
and they provided a strong platform for what was to come.

And little did we know what was to come!

The year 2019 ended with the advent of Australia’s worst 
summer of bushfires in a generation, which were extinguished 
just in time for the worst global pandemic in 100 years to reach 
our shores.

As the incoming Chair, and incoming Federation Executive 
Director, these tragic events placed the great strengths of the 
RFDS into sharp relief.

Across Australia, from Cockle Bay in the south, to Cape York 
in the north, from Sydney in the east, to Shark Bay in the 
west, we witnessed an RFDS that is deeply rooted in the local 
communities that it serves.

The year has seen unprecedented demands placed on 
RFDS team members across the country, but it has also 
seen unprecedented responses – ensuring health services 
are provided to those in need, when they are needed.

The year saw RFDS team members taking on additional PPE 
requirements and procedures, transferring services to telehealth 
platforms, collaborating across state boundaries, and finding 
solutions to challenges that could never have been imagined, 
including establishing new arrangements to provide emergency 

COVID-19 services to the bush, transporting patients who were 
COVID-19 positive to the care they needed, running new mobile 
respiratory clinics to identify outbreaks early and providing 
comfort to communities. Continuing to provide the highest 
quality care, continuing to meet or exceed the expectations 
of those who have invested so much in our services over so 
many years, continuing to raise much-needed funds to support 
our services. And all the while dealing with the challenges of 
COVID-19 lockdowns, closed state borders, remote learning, 
working from home arrangements and more.

Our founder, the Reverend John Flynn, once imagined a ‘mantle 
of safety’ for all Australians, especially those living a long way 
from essential services. Never has that mission been more 
important to the RFDS.

As this annual report is being prepared, the COVID-19 crisis 
is not yet over but as a federation, the RFDS can be grateful. 
Grateful for the deeply talented and committed staff who take 
health care services to all corners of our vast country. Grateful 
to the teams of staff who work so hard in the background to 
support those services. Grateful to governments and sponsors 
who have partnered with us to achieve our shared objectives. 
Grateful to the volunteers and supporters who have maintained 
their efforts during the most challenging of years. And, as this 
report identifies, grateful to the many Australians who continue to 
place their trust in the RFDS to provide them with the high quality 
care that they have come to expect.

Nev Power 
Federation Chair

Frank Quinlan 
Federation Executive Director
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National 
COVID-19 
response

As an essential service and part of Australia’s larger health 
system, the RFDS:

 > quickly identified health needs in rural and remote 
communities; 

 > partnered with the Australian Government; 

 > ramped up our capability to provide a safe environment for our 
staff, our patients and the community; 

 > maintained many existing services; 

 > established new COVID-19 specific services such as early 
evacuation of COVID-19 patients, suspected patients and their 
contacts in isolated communities; 

 > mobile respiratory testing to identify possible patients and 
outbreaks; 

 > movement of PPE and pathology samples (COVID-19 tests) to 
support communities; 

 > and ramped up COVID-19 safe inter-hospital transfers;

All of this was negotiated and established in partnership with the 
Australian Government in a matter of days and has continued 
since March 2020.

COVID-19 RESPONSE WORKING GROUP 

In March, at the onset of the pandemic, a working group 
was formed with representatives from all RFDS sections 
and operations to coordinate our preparation and response 
for COVID-19. This group met on a regular basis and was 
instrumental in meeting need and protecting patients and staff.

Early COVID-19 surge planning and modelling was conducted, 
recognising that the organisation must be prepared for hotspots 
that may occur within the RFDS service footprint. Planning 
detailed need for assets such as aircraft and road service 
vehicles, as well as health, aviation, engineering and clinical 
workforce was undertaken. In recent months, RFDS Victoria bore 

the heavy load through transporting high numbers of confirmed 
and strongly suspected COVID-19 patients.

After the first COVID-19 retrieval in early February, the need to 
track confirmed and strongly suspected cases was recognised 
so that hard data could be used to communicate RFDS activity 
within the overall national health pandemic response. In addition 
to providing RFDS COVID-19 information to the Australian 
government, and state and territory governments, this has 
also enabled the patient COVID-19 journey to be tracked 
for a continual review and improvement of RFDS services.

NATIONAL RFDS PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT 

The RFDS deals with infectious diseases as a routine; however, 
COVID-19 presents new challenges in terms of the potential 
volume of patients needing care. There had previously not been 
a need for a national PPE stockpile; however, stockpiling quickly 
instituted when the pandemic struck. Personnel were mobilised 
and joint purchasing, warehousing and rapid shipping were 
implemented for the RFDS so that frontline staff were provided 
with much-needed gowns, masks, face shields, gloves and 
shoe covers. 

We wish to thank the Australian Government for its additional 
supply from the National Medical Stockpile. Without this support, 
the RFDS would have been struggling to meet the urgent demand 
for PPE required during COVID-19.

COVID-19 RESPONSE FUNDING

Thank you to federal, state and territory governments, as well 
as corporate partners and individual donors, for providing 
additional funds for the RFDS to meet COVID-19 need. Without 
these funds, the RFDS could not have responded quickly and 
effectively to the COVID-19 pandemic.

COVID-19 has impacted countries around the globe, and here in Australia 
there have been hotspots, lockdowns, restrictions on movement and business, 
and unfortunately, loss of life.



Between 2 February and 
30 October 2020, the 
RFDS has conducted 
2,121 patient episodes 
of care for confirmed or 
suspected COVID-19 cases.

There have been 2,055 
inter-hospital transfers and 
64 primary evacuations.

All patients were either 
confirmed or strongly 
suspected as having 
COVID-19. 

A total of 1,817 transfers 
have occurred within 
Victoria (86% of the total 
figure) and have been 
done by road ambulance. 
Thankfully, the number of 
new cases in Victoria has 
been dropping recently.

5Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2019/20



Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2019/206

T A S

Q L D

N T

W A

N S W

S A

V I C

Q L D

N T

W A

N S W

S A

V I C

T A S

Maps

WESTERN 
OPERATIONS

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Western Operations)

CENTRAL 
OPERATIONS

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Central Operations)

QUEENSLAND 
SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Queensland Section)

SOUTH EASTERN 
SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(South Eastern Section)

VICTORIAN SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Victorian Section)TASMANIAN SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Tasmanian Section)

The Royal Flying Doctor Service is a federation 
of seven companies.

23 air bases 
55 clinics held every day 2,391 medical chests



Flight paths
With the responsibility of providing medical emergency and 
primary health care services to Australia’s remote and very 
remote areas, the Royal Flying Doctor Service has established 
flight paths that reach across the continent.

No matter where you are located, the Flying Doctor can get 
help to you within hours.

The RFDS flew 27,250,793 km in the last year – equivalent to 
34 trips to the moon and back – to deliver vital health services. 
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Kalgoorlie

Meekatharra

Alice Springs

Mount Isa

Darwin

Broken Hill
Dubbo

Charleville Roma

Longreach

Port 
Augusta

Melbourne

Perth

Port Hedland

Broome
Townsville

Brisbane

Sydney

Bundaberg

Rockhampton

Launceston

Cairns

Adelaide
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National service delivery 
summary
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37,666
patients transported by 
an aeromedical aircraft

20,134
Primary health clinics made 
available to country Australia 
(=55 per day)

18,125
Face-to-face mental health 
consultations 

111,279
Face-to-face primary health 
consultations

320,100
total patient contacts
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76,508
Remote telehealth consultations

62,895
Patients transported by 
road to hospital or between 
hospitals for specialist care 

13,627
Face-to-face dental services 
for oral health, emergency 
and restorative dental care

3,714
Immunisations in remote areas

1,931
full- and part-time RFDS staff

2,391
medical chests around Australia



79 aircraft and  
180 road service 
vehicles

Cessna C208

Pilatus PC-12

Beechcraft King Air

B200/B200SE/B200C/B350C

Road transport

Dental/oral health

Eye care
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Cessna C208

Pilatus PC-12

Pilatus PC-24Beechcraft King Air

B200/B200SE/B200C/B350C

Road transport

Dental/oral health

Eye care
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2019/20 PER DAY 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15

Total patient contacts 320,100 877 370,706 335,125 336,358 282,877 292,523

Aeromedical retrievals 37,666 103 38,615 38,064 36,799 37,252 64,673

Patient road transportations 62,895 172 82,081 75,311 70,576 53,159 26,952

Primary healthcare clinics 20,134 55 21,323 16,209 17,094 9,323 15,248

Episodes of dental care 13,627 37 17,686 21,828 10,832 8,975 9,845

Telehealth consultations 76,508 209 97,602 88,188 88,541 62,372 92,776

Staff numbers (headcount) 1,931 n/a 1,755 1,650 1,462 1,358 1,224

Staff FTE (full-time equivalent) 1,473 n/a 1,236 1,237 1,220 1,072 1,059

Medical chests 2,391 n/a 2,342 2,338 2,338 2,245 2,359

COVID-19 has had a dramatic impact across the country. 
For many communities, this meant being closed to outsiders 
(and the RFDS was eager not to be a vector of transmission into 
those communities). This has resulted in unavoidable reduction 
in some services, a transfer of some services to telehealth, and 
a backlog in the need for primary care in communities following 
the COVID-19 lockdowns. It will take a long time and a concerted 
effort to catch up.

We have long known that remote and rural Australians have up to 
three times the prevalence of avoidable chronic illness. They see 
doctors at half the rate, medical specialists and dentists at one-
third the rate, and mental health practitioners at one-fifth the rate 
of persons living in the city.

Access to 
health care



Where it comes from 
The RFDS is a not-for-profit organisation. While supported by the 
Australian, state and territory governments, RFDS relies heavily 
on fundraising, bequests and donations from the community 
to purchase and fit out our aeromedical aircraft, purchase vital 
medical equipment and enhance our operational facilities.

Where it is applied
Providing vital emergency and primary health care services to 
rural and remote Australia comes at a cost. The RFDS invests 
in medical and health facilities, aircraft and road service 
vehicles, vital medical equipment and infrastructure to build 
on service capability. The express purpose is to reduce the 
disparity in health outcomes between the city and the bush.

Revenue
REVENUE BY CATEGORY

New health services 
A new collaboration between Hearing Australia and the RFDS 
has seen innovative hearing screening tools adopted and rolled 
out across the country as part of RFDS primary healthcare clinics 
to remote areas.

Two old, decommissioned buses have been transformed into 
modern, mobile health clinics covering regional Tasmania.

Two new remote clinics in the NSW towns of Louth and Tilpa and 
a third clinic in the South Australian town of Innamincka are now 
open to the public.

RFDS Victoria has achieved accreditation against the National 
Safety and Quality Health Service Standards (National Standards) 
for its Wellbeing, Telehealth and Speech Therapy programs.

COVID-19 response 

We are immensely thankful for 
ongoing Australian Government 
support. This year, this included 
$38 million for COVID-19 response 
funding to prepare and respond to 
need in rural and remote Australia, 
in addition to our ongoing health 
services contracts.

Investing in  
Australia’s health

Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2019/2012

$433m

12% Other

24% Commonwealth Funding

29% State & Territories Funding

16% Commercial Funding

1% Capital Funding

7% Bequest

12% General Donations



EXPENDITURE BY SERVICE

New and refurbished facilities
RFDS Queensland and RACQ LifeFlight Rescue have opened 
the new, joint Bundaberg Aeromedical Base, which will allow both 
organisations to deliver an even greater level of care with our new 
Patient Transfer Facility. 

World-leading medical simulation technology is now set up 
in Cairns for staff training and technical skill development.

The RFDS Meekatharra aerobase has been upgraded with a 
new patient transfer area.

The new RFDS Mount Gambier Patient Transfer Facility has 
been opened to improve patient comfort and care.

Additions to fleet
A $14-million, purpose-built aeromedical jet (PC-24) has arrived 
to service Northern Territory.

A third Rio Tinto LifeFlight PC-24 jet is set to join the RFDS 
Western Operations fleet in 2022.

Four new B350 aircraft have arrived and are in RFDS South 
Eastern, including two new nine-seater passenger aircraft, 
designed to transport clinical teams to remote clinics, and two 
planes with aeromedical fit-out that can be used in medical 
emergencies and for patient transport.

RFDS WA is boosting the performance of its PC-12 turboprop 
aircraft fleet by reconfiguring and modernising the propeller 
system. The conversion from aluminium four-blade propellers 
to carbon-fibre composite five-blade propellers is a first for RFDS 
aircraft anywhere across Australia.
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EXPENDITURE BY CATEGORY

$414m

45.74% Inter-Hospital Transfers

7.73% Other Services

14.70% Standby State

0.04%
Remote Consultations – 
Inter-Hospital Transfers

4.72% State Community Clinic

1.61% Commonwealth Community Clinic

Medical Chest

4.41%
Standby Commonwealth 

Traditional Base

0.79% Mental

1.12% Dental

3.58%
Remote Consultations –

Primary Evacuations

1.30% COVID-19

0.37%

0.93% Traditional Remote Clinics – Nurse

6.29% Traditional Remote Clinics – GP

6.68% Primary Evacuations

18%
Aviation & Motor 

11% Depreciation

2% Finance Costs

17% Supplier Costs

52% Employee Costs

$414m

Vehicle Costs
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The Royal Flying Doctor Service is honoured to have ongoing  
support from so many.

The support from individuals, families, small businesses and 
corporations has been incredible. We are extremely grateful for 
the generous donations that enable us to keep the Flying Doctor 
flying, driving, consulting online and by telehealth, and serving in 
any other way needed in this challenging year. We want to thank 
our volunteers and fundraisers for their tireless efforts and great 
accomplishments.

Our national partners have played a huge role in supporting 
the ongoing work of the RFDS family. These are:

Our partners and supporters

Air BP, a National Major Partner, continues as our 
national fuel supplier, enabling our fleet of 79 aircraft to 
reach every corner of this large continent. Air BP also 
made a significant donation of PPE as detailed below.

Activ8me, a National Major Partner, continues to 
provide connectivity and technology solutions to better 
enable the RFDS to provide services in regional, rural, 
remote and very remote areas.

We want to thank the Australian Government 
for its ongoing services contracts, and for an 
additional $38 million in COVID-19 response 
funding, which has helped us to prepare 
and respond to need.

The RFDS has also been granted more than 
$500,000 in fuel rebates from the Australian 
Government’s Australian Airline Financial Relief 
Package (AAFRP).

COVID-19 support
When the national health pandemic hit in March, many national 
donations were gratefully received and assisted the RFDS to 
meet the demand needed. 

We want to thank all who have donated, with a special  
shout-out to:

UCB Australia donated $75,000

Uniglo donated 150,000 medical masks

Anzac Army donated 200 pairs of protection 
goggles

Mars Wrigley Foundation donated $115,349.14

BHP donated 22,800 N95 masks, 4,600 face shields 
and 4,000 pairs of gloves

TAL, a National Community Partner, continues to 
support the RFDS in its delivery of preventative health 
services across the country.

Country Women’s Association (CWA), 
which is collaborating with the RFDS to bring stories, 
prose, memories and yarns of the bush together in a 
publication titled Darn a Good Yarn, to promote both 
the RFDS and CWA to a broader audience and also 
raise funds for both organisations.

Hon Mark Coulton MP given tour of the new federally funded RFDS 
Respiratory Clinic at Broken Hill. The clinic will reduce pressure on 
hospital emergency departments and primary health providers, while 
also reducing the risk of exposure to COVID-19.
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As a key health service provider in 
rural and remote areas, including to a 
large number of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples, the RFDS is 
committed to reconciliation and the 
improvement of health outcomes for 
First Australians. 

Throughout the last year we cared for 17,961 Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander patients and 62.2% of our aeromedical 
evacuations were for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders. 
We are pleased to have seen our commitment to reconciliation 
continue to grow and develop over the last year as we move 
towards the conclusion of our second RFDS Reconciliation 
Action Plan in early 2021. In particular, we have seen 
cultural protocols become more embedded throughout our 
organisation, with every important meeting beginning with an 
acknowledgement of country and all major events beginning with 
a welcome to country. 

We have continued to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander health students with scholarships to undertake clinical 
placements in remote and rural Australia, in partnership with 
AIDA, IAHA and CATSINaM. A review of this scholarship program 
has shown that the RFDS has supported 31 students since the 
program began in 2017. Our partner organisations provided 
strong feedback through this review about the immense value of 
the scholarships and that the program had significantly exceeded 
expectations. 

National Reconciliation Week, although a little different due to 
COVID-19, was widely celebrated throughout the RFDS, and 
our teams across the country joined together to participate in a 
Virtual Acknowledgement of Country. 

Reconciliation 
Action Plan

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we have remained 
conscious of the needs and particular vulnerabilities of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities we provide 
services to, consulting with these communities to pursue 
appropriate service options and continuing to support remote 
communities in any way possible. Further, our research team is 
collaborating with Indigenous organisations to determine the best 
way to protect communities in any future pandemic. 

While we have made progress and built significant momentum 
through our first two RAPs, we acknowledge there is still a long 
path ahead to pursue widespread reconciliation and change. We 
look forward to launching our third Reconciliation Action Plan, for 
the years 2021–2023.



Throughout these unprecedented times responding to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the RFDS has maintained strong and 
active engagement with the Australian Government and other 
key partners seeking to address critical health challenges in rural 
and remote areas. Through the mapping of populations, health 
outcomes and health service availability in remote and rural 
areas, the RFDS continues to pursue more equitable access to 
health services. The RFDS has been in constant communication 
with relevant government areas throughout the pandemic period, 
as both a key provider of services and to provide advice on the 
pandemic response in our service areas. 

A voice to government

This year the research team has been 
relentless in analysing our patient data 
and helping governments to improve 
services and better target investment. 
They have published 14 academic 
papers and reports.

These papers have been published in medical journals including 
the Medical Journal of Australia and have focused on rural and 
remote health care, including aeromedical retrievals, health care 
provision, and primary health care in remote Australia:

 > Mental Health Care for Rural and Remote Australians During 
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic;

 > Management of Traumatic Tooth Avulsion Using 2-Octyl 
Cyanoacrylate Tissue Adhesive Splint: A Case Report; 

 > Poor access to kidney disease management services in 
susceptible patient populations in rural Australia is associated 
with increased aeromedical retrievals for acute renal care; 

 > Mental health crises in rural and remote Australia: an 
assessment of direct medical costs of air medical retrievals 
and the implications for the societal burden; 

 > Rural and remote dental care: Patient characteristics and 
health care provision; 

Research
 > Aeromedical retrievals for gastrointestinal disorders in rural 

and remote Australia: the need for improved access to 
specialist advice; 

 > Aeromedical retrieval for suspected appendicitis in rural and 
remote paediatric patients; 

 > Royal Flying Doctor Service Coronavirus Disease 2019 Activity 
and Surge Modelling in Australia; 

 > Aeromedical retrieval diagnostic trends during a period of 
Coronavirus 2019 lockdown; 

 > Aeromedical retrieval for stroke in Australia; 

 > Royal Flying Doctor Service COVID-19 activity and surge 
modelling in Australia; 

 > Aeromedical retrievals of people for mental health care and the 
low level of clinical support in rural and remote Australia; 

 > Health care for older people in rural and remote Australia: 
challenges for service provision; 

 > The importance of ultrasound in improving rural and remote 
patient care.

In addition to direct research outputs, the RFDS Research team 
has also received over $2 million in research and project grant 
support, to with multiple national and international organisations. 
Our ongoing research activities highlight the RFDS commitment 
to being an evidence-based organisation, adaptive to rural and 
remote community needs.

Drawing on our growing body of research and service delivery 
experience, we have also contributed to a range of government 
and policy processes, including a 2020–21 pre-Budget 
submission proposing a Rural and Remote Economic Stimulus 
Package to promote recovery following the COVID-19 pandemic.

Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2019/2016
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Telehealth
Between 2017 and 2019, several RFDS Sections and Operations 
participated in a national telehealth research project, conducted 
in collaboration with the University of Queensland. The primary 
aim of this study was to investigate the extent to which the 
RFDS was able to supplement conventional in-person primary 
health care consultations with telehealth consultations, using 
videoconferencing technology and telephone calls. A secondary 
aim of this project was to understand the change management 
process from a broad stakeholder perspective, through interviews 
with key stakeholders. 

The outcomes from the trial demonstrated that telehealth was 
delivered via a number of different platforms, including Skype, 
WhatsApp, FaceTime, Zoom, Mantle and telephone, through 14 
RFDS primary healthcare clinics in South Australia, Queensland, 
Western Australia and New South Wales. Between September 
2017 and March 2019, the RFDS conducted 486 telehealth 
occasions of service as part of the study, of which 27% were 
delivered via videoconference and the remainder were delivered 
via telephone. In terms of change management, the research 
project identified the enablers and barriers to implementing 
a new model of service delivery.

At the conclusion of the research project, the RFDS identified 
an urgent need for a national videoconferencing platform to 
deliver effective, cost-efficient services to rural and remote 
communities and individuals to supplement face-to-face 
services. The presentation of the COVID-19 pandemic provided 
the impetus to rapidly progress this project. As a result, almost 
all RFDS Sections and Operations have opted in to the National 
Telehealth Implementation Project (NTHIP), which will see the 
implementation and use of Mantle throughout the Federation 
over the coming year. The Mantle platform was chosen because 
it was developed specifically for the RFDS and can be rapidly 
modified to meet the needs of RFDS clinicians delivering 
services through videoconferencing. A change management 
plan, which incorporates the lessons learned from the previous 
research project, has been developed to support the transition to 
the new service delivery modality. 

Strategic projects

Stroke
The RFDS is part of the Australian Stroke Alliance and has been 
working closely with 37 organisations to solve the problem of 
rural and remote stroke patients being too far from the imaging 
equipment crucial to correct diagnosis and treatment. With the 
first project completed, and some solutions found and trialled 
with lightweight portable imaging equipment that will be suitable 
for both aircraft and remote locations, the bid for stage two 
funding was submitted to the Medical Research Future Fund 
Frontiers Grant scheme and grant recipients were announced in 
late October. If successful, the stage two project will commence 
in January 2021. A company limited by guarantee (ASA Ltd) has 
been established and RFDS is one of seven essential partners. 
A website for the project has been developed and can be 
accessed at https://austrokealliance.org.au 

Risk management
A thorough national RFDS COVID-19 risk management was 
completed. Risks are frequently assessed and updated, with 
new risks added when identified. The plan incorporates risks 
identified by all RFDS Sections and Operations and has been well 
accepted by all Sections and Operations.

We are now using this as the starting point to develop a shared 
national risk management plan.

Staff transferability
A project was undertaken with the People and Culture Working 
Group and external consultation from Providence HR, to advise 
on a process for staff ‘transfer’ between RFDS organisations 
nationally. The long-term intent is to encourage internal mobility 
for staff as an alternative of leaving RFDS and ultimately 
reduce pressure on recruitment and training, (noting the RFDS 
is a federation of seven legal entities and there is currently no 
legal capacity to transfer staff between such entities under the 
Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth)). On an immediate basis, the project 
provided a heads of agreement for emergency assistance 
within the RFDS family. This provides a framework under which 
employees from one RFDS legal entity can provide assistance 
to another RFDS legal entity when a need arises (e.g. staff 
shortages as a result of pandemic, bushfire, drought, flood).



Brand
RFDS TV drama
The new RFDS TV drama was shot by Endemol Shine Australia at 
the Broken Hill base will be aired on Channel 7 in early 2021. The 
show will be one of the best ongoing public relations pieces for 
the RFDS since the original TV series of the early 80s. 

The gripping new eight-hour drama is based in Australia’s Red 
Centre and is being described as ‘where the modern-day heroes 
of the RFDS navigate private lives as turbulent and profound as 
the heart stopping emergencies they attend’. It is an Endemol 
Shine Banks production, with investment from the Seven 
Network in association with Screen Australia and financed by 
Screen NSW through the Made in NSW Fund and the Regional 
Filming Fund. “RFDS” has been produced by Imogen Banks and 
Sara Richardson and features Justine Clarke, Stephen Peacocke 
and Rob Collins. 

We want to thank RFDS South Eastern who facilitated the 
shooting at their base and for use of their aircraft – and also the 
many other RFDS staff across the Federation who have assisted 
scriptwriters with information, advice and consultation in the 
creation of the storyline. The Federation Office team provided a 
team member at Broken Hill for the duration of pre-production 
and filming.

Darn a Good Yarn

A collaborative publication by the RFDS and CWA, Darn a Good 
Yarn, was published through Booktopia. The publication is 128 
pages filled with anecdotes, memories, prose, stories and the 
occasional recipe. Profits from the sale of the book will go to the 
RFDS and CWA, with the plan that the book become an annual 
publication that staff and the public can contribute to each year.

RFDS national podcast

An RFDS national podcast has been recorded with PodcastOne 
Australia for release in late 2020. PodcastOne Australia is a 
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Communications
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In recent years, the RFDS data team has been working diligently towards its 
data strategy centred around patients and their episodes of care. The team has 
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providing substantial improvements to the user interface and 
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Data

Finance Coordination
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To drive better outcomes for the patients and communities we 
serve, maintaining coordination across the Federation is a vital 
role that has been even more crucial in this last 12 months.

Working groups for CEOs, Research, Aviation, Corporate 
Services, Brand & Communications, People & Culture and 
Reconciliation Action Plan have been facilitated over the last 
12 months. There has also been a newly created COVID-19 
Response Working Group, along with more casual coordination 
across fundraising, tourism, data and bequest management.

We have also met weekly with the Deputy Chief Medical Officer 
and other major primary health COVID-19 responders across the 
country, with Minister Coulton as part of the regional strategy, 
and monthly with the Deputy Prime Minister, Michael McCormack 
as part of the Commonwealth Aviation response.
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Hon Amanda Vanstone AO – National Chair (2014–Dec 2019)
Former Senator for South Australia (1983–2004); Ambassador to Italy 
(2007–2010); Director, Port Adelaide Football Club; Director, DrinkWise; 
Director, Institute for International Trade; Director, Vision 2020.
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and The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, and a member of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Dr John O’Donnell AM – Deputy Federation Chair and 
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MBBS Adel, MHP UNSW, Hon.MD Qld, FRACMA, FACHSM(Hon), FAIST, 
FAICD
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Health Services Brisbane; a Director of Mater Medical Research Institute 
Ltd; Mater Appeals Ltd (T/A Mater Foundation); and Mater Education Ltd.

Chair, Mercy Community Services SEQ Ltd; Chair, Mercy Super Ltd; 
Member, Uniting Care Queensland Board Health sub-committee; Director, 
Brisbane South Primary Health Network Ltd; Chair, Proton Therapy 
Australia Ltd; Chair, Potential (X) Ltd; and member, Advisory Committee, 
Healthscope Ltd.

A/Prof. K Rallah-Baker – Independent Director
Committee; Co-Chair, RANZCO RAP Committee; member, RANZCO 
Selection Board. B. Med, AMA(M), MAICD, FRANZCO

Adjunct Associate Professor QUT; Consultant Ophthalmologist; VMO, 
Sunshine Coast Hospital Health Service;  Director, Federal Board of the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service; Director, Sunshine Coast Ophthalmologists; 
Director, Rockdale Downs Holdings; Chair, Vision 2020 Indigenous

Mark Gray – Queensland Section nominee  
– Appointed November 2016
BEcon(Hons), SF Fin, FAIM, GAICD

Former Chief Executive Officer roles with Queensland Treasury, 
Queensland Competition Authority and Queensland Independent 
Commission of Audit. Former senior positions with Macquarie Group 
and BDO.

Elaine (Ruth) Sandow – South Eastern Section nominee 
– Appointed February 2017 

Member, Regional Advisory Committee. Former registered nurse; resident 
grazier in the South Eastern Section network area; founding member and 
Chairperson of the Milparinka Heritage and Tourism Association Inc.

Denis Henry – Victorian Section nominee
Grad. Dip. Acct, B Tech (Biotech), MCIPS, MAICD 

Former Managing Director and Chairman of Grosvenor Management 
Consulting; Director of Doutta Galla Aged Services Ltd; Advisor to the 
Board of Leemark Fire Protection Group; non-executive Director of 
Contracts Online Pty Ltd and Contracts Online Ltd (NZ). 

Malcolm White – Tasmanian Section nominee
MBA, Air Transport Pilot Licence

Chair, Governance and Nominations Committee; Member, Risk and 
Finance Committee; former Chief Executive Officer, TAFE Tasmania; non-
executive Director, TDA National Scholarships Foundation. 

Loretta Reynolds – Central Operations nominee
BEc, LLB, SFFin, FAICD 

Member, Executive Committee; Member, Finance Committee. Corporate 
partner and Chairman of national law firm, Thomson Geer; non-executive 
Director, Australian Submarine Corporation; South Australian Health & 
Medical Research Institute. 

Saul Harben – Western Operations nominee
B Com (Econ) LLB. Partner, Clayton Utz

Saul has been a practising lawyer for over 20 years.

Federation Board of Directors

Left to right: Nev Power, Dr John O’Donnell, A/Prof. Kris Rallah-Baker, Mark Gray, Ruth Sandow, Denis Henry, Malcolm White, Loretta Reynolds, 
Erica Smyth and Saul Harben.
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Directors’ report

1 

The directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia submit herewith the annual financial report of the 
company for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.  The directors report as follows: 

Information about the directors and senior management 

The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Name Particulars  
Ms Amanda Vanstone Director, RFDS of Australia 

(Resigned 15-11-2019) 

Mr Neville Power Director, RFDS of Australia 
(Appointed 10-12-2019) 

Dr John O’Donnell Director, RFDS of Australia 
(Appointed 10-12-2019) 

Dr Kristopher Rallah-Baker Director, RFDS of Australia 

Ms Loretta Reynolds Director, RFDS Central Operations 

Mr Malcolm White Director, RFDS Tasmanian Section 
(Resigned 26-08-2019 & Appointed 15-11-2019) 

Ms Caroline Wells Director, RFDS Tasmanian Section  
(Appointed 26-08-2019 & Resigned 15-11-2019) 

Mr Denis Gordon Henry Director, RFDS Victorian Section 

Mr Alan Mark Gray Director, RFDS Queensland Section 

Mr Saul Harben Director, RFDS Western Operation 
(Appointed 30-08-2019) 

Mrs Elaine Ruth Sandow Director, South Eastern Section 

The above named directors held office during the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year 
except where stated. 

Company Secretary  

Mr David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
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Directors’ report (continued)

2 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (RFDS) in the course of the financial year as a health 
care charity and public benevolent institution was to support the RFDS Sections and Operations in the delivery of 
preventive and other health services for the provision of relief to people in rural and remote areas of Australia.  No 
significant changes in the nature of this activity occurred during the year.  

Review of operations 

The company acts as the central coordinating body for member organisations and aims to achieve the coordinated 
provision of health services in Australia by its member organisations.  The day to day operations for the delivery of 
services are carried out by the operating sections. 

The operating surplus of the company for the financial year was $258,998 (2019: deficit of $51,640). No income tax is 
payable as the company is exempt from paying such tax. 

The company’s operation for the year included the receipt and distribution amongst its member organisations of 
Commonwealth operational and capital grants, donations, bequests and legacies, and to conduct the affairs of the 
company for the mutual benefit of its member organisations and people in rural and remote areas of Australia. 

On 16 April 2020 the company entered into a new Contract for Services with the Commonwealth Government to provide 
additional services to respond to the demand for COVID-19 related services.  The contract provides funding for RFDS 
Sections and Operations to undertake additional services including aeromedical evacuations, GP respiratory clinics and 
delivery of personal protective equipment (PPE).  The contract for services operates from 16 April 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

Subsequent events 

COVID-19 was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health Organisation. Subsequent to the end of 
the financial year, the quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and other governments as well as the travel 
and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries in early 2020 have caused disruption to businesses 
and economic activity.  

The company received additional funding from the Commonwealth in respect of COVID-19 in FY20 and is expected 
to continue receive additional funding as and when services are delivered through the contract term to 30 June 2021. 

The extent of the future impact of COVID-19 on the company’s operational and financial performance will depend 
on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, regulations imposed by governments, 
and the impact on the activities of the Royal Flying Doctor Service’s operating sections,  all of which are uncertain 
and cannot be predicted at this time. 

Other than the matter noted above, there has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to 
the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may affect, the operations of the company, the results 
of those operations or the state of affairs of the company in future financial years. 

Changes in state of affairs 

There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year. 

Future developments 

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the company in future financial years 
and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the company. Accordingly 
other than matter disclosed in the subsequent events section above, this information has not been disclosed in this 
report. 
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Directors’ report (continued)

3 

Indemnification of officers and auditors 

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by 
law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate 
against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
Directors’ meetings 

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of 
meetings attended by each director.  During the financial year, 7 meetings were held. 

Board of directors 

Directors 
Meetings eligible 

to attend Attended 
Ms Amanda Vanstone 2 2 
Mr Neville Power 5 5 
Dr John O’Donnell 5 4 
Dr Kristopher Rallah-Baker 7 5 
Ms Loretta Reynolds 7 5 
Mr Malcolm White 6 6 
Mr. Denis Gordon Henry 7 7 
Mr Alan Mark Gray 7 6 
Mr Saul Harben 6 5 
Mrs Elaine Ruth Sandow 7 7 
Ms Caroline Wells 1 0 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 4 of the annual report. 

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Neville Power 
Chair 

Mr Mark Gray 
Director 
Chair of Finance & Audit Committee 

Canberra,  6 November 2020 
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The Board of Directors 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
Suite 1003, Level 10 
109 Pitt Street 
Sydney 2000 NSW 
 

 
6 November 2020 
 
 
Dear Board Members 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
 
In accordance with Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, I 
am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the directors of the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia. 
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012  in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Cheryl Kennedy 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 
 

  

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
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Australia 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of  
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 

 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the “Entity”) which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information and the declaration by the directors.  In addition, we have audited the Entity’s compliance with 
specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991. 
 
In our opinion: 
 

(a) the accompanying financial report of the Entity is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (the “ACNC Act”), including: 

 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 

financial performance for the year then ended; and 
 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 

Division 60 of the ACNC Act. 
 
(b) the financial report agrees to the underlying financial records of the Entity, that have been 

maintained, in all material respects, in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its 
regulations for the year ended 30 June 2020; and   

 
(c) monies received by the Entity as a result of fundraising appeals conducted during the year ended 30 

June 2020, have been utilised for and applied, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its regulations. 

 
We have obtained all the necessary information required in connection with our audit in respect of the 
financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report and 
Compliance with Specific Requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 section of our report. We are 
independent of the Entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the ACNC Act and the 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including independence standards) (the “Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Other Information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report 
included in the Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report and for Compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 
1991 
 
The directors of the Entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the ACNC 
Act, and for compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to enable compliance with the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Entity to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report and Compliance with Specific Requirements of the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and the Entity complied, in all material respects, with 
specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 

• Identify and assess the risks of non-compliance with the specific requirements of the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 and the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
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conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
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opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.  

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of any compliance procedure, it is possible that fraud, error or non-
compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 may occur and not be detected. An audit is not designed 
to detect all weaknesses in the Entity’s compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 as an audit is not 
performed continuously throughout the period and the tests are performed on a sample basis. Any projection of 
the evaluation of the compliance procedures to future periods is subject to the risk that the procedures, may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with them may 
deteriorate. 
 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  
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I, Neville Power, Chair of the Board of Directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia declare that in my opinion: 

a) the financial report gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals;

b) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under that Act and the conditions
attached to the authority have been complied with; and

c) the internal controls exercised by the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia are appropriate and effective in
accounting for all income received.

On behalf of the Directors 

Neville Power 
Chair of the Board of Directors 

Canberra,  6 November 2020 

R o ya l  F l yi n g  D o c t or  Ser v i ce  o f  Au s t r a l i a

Directors’ declaration

9 

The directors declare that: 

(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable; and 

(b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012, including compliance with accounting standards 
and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the company;  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to to s.60.15 of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profit Commission Regulation 2013. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Neville Power 
Chair 

Mark Gray 
Director 
Chair Finance & Audit Committee 

Canberra,  6 November 2020 
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Note 
2020 2019 

$ $ 

Revenue 4 99,046,182 89,101,296 
Distributions to sections and programmes (95,405,100) (85,558,978) 
Employee benefits expense 5 (1,992,603) (1,979,048) 
National activities expense (682,962) (984,939) 
Depreciation expense 5 (138,798) (46,232) 
Finance costs (11,577) - 
Other administrative expenses (556,144) (583,739) 

Net surplus / (loss) for the year 258,998 (51,640) 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 258,998 (51,640) 

R o ya l  F l yi n g  D o c t or  Ser v i ce  o f  Au s t r a l i a

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 14 to 33.
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 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 6 6,494,288 50,541,941 
Trade and other receivables 7 3,516,353 469,723 
Prepayments  6,094,145 160,968 
Assets classified as held for sale 10 - 225,000 
Other financial assets 11 7,027 7,027 
    
Total current assets  16,111,813 51,404,659 
    
Non-current assets    
Plant and equipment 9 49,171 88,332 
Right of use assets 8 257,733 - 
Other financial assets 11 14,937 25,419 
     
Total non-current assets  321,841 113,750 
     
Total assets  16,433,654 51,518,410 
     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 12 6,000,115 1,595,770 
Deferred Income  6,537,770 46,442,439 
Lease liabilities 8 56,482 - 
Provisions 13 126,481 159,216 
Trust fund liability 14 99,562 266,088 
     
Total current liabilities  12,820,410 48,463,513 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Lease liabilities 8 206,868 - 
Provisions 13 156,015 123,534 
     
Total non-current liabilities  362,883 123,534 
     
Total liabilities  13,183,293 48,587,047 
     
Net assets  3,250,361 2,931,363 
     
Equity     
Retained earnings 16 3,250,361  2, 931,363 
    
Total equity  3,250,361 2, 931,363 
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 Retained Earnings Total Equity 

$ $ 
   

Balance at 1 July 2018 2,983,003 2,983,003 
   
Net loss for the year (51,640) (51,640) 
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year (51,640) (51,640) 
   
Closing balance at 30 June 2019 2,931,363 2,931,363 

   
Balance at 1 July 2019 2,931,363 2,931,363 
   
Adjustment on transition to AASB 15 & AASB 
1058 60,000 60,000 

Balance at 1 July 2019 – restated 2,991,363 2,991,363 
Net Surplus for the year 258,998 258,998 
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 258,998 258,998 
   
Closing balance at 30 June 2020 3,250,361 3,250,361 
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 Note 
2020 2019 

$ $ 
    

Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from sections  1,128,982 1,204,190 
Receipts from Commonwealth Government  54,121,096 133,827,182 
Donations and legacies  5,752,635 5,023,090 
Other receipts  235,021 211,548 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (2,203,365) (4,277,903) 
Payments to sections  (103,000,539) (93,696,628) 
     
Net cash used in/provided by operating activities 17(b) (43,966,170) 42,291,479 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Interest received  23,985 149,539 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (10,248) (17,464) 
Dividends received  130 264 
     
Net cash provided by investing activities  13,867 132,340 
    
     
Cash flows from financing activities    
Repayment of lease liabilities  (95,350) - 
    
Net cash used in financing activities  (95,350) - 
    
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (44,047,653) 42,423,818 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 

 50,541,941 8,118,123 

     
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 17(a) 6,494,288 50,541,941 
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1. General information  
 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the company) is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and 
operating in Australia. 
 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows:  
 

Registered office and principal place of business 
Level 2 
10 – 12 Brisbane Ave 
Barton ACT 2600 

 
The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (RFDS) in the course of the financial year as a health 
care charity and public benevolent institution was to support the RFDS Sections and Operations in the delivery of 
preventive and other health services for the provision of relief to people in rural and remote areas of Australia.  No 
significant changes in the nature of this activity occurred during the year.  
 
2. Significant accounting policies  
 
Statement of compliance 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements, and comply with other requirements of the law.  For the pur poses of preparing the 
financial statements, the company is a not-for-profit entity.  
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 2 November 2020.  
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, 
unless otherwise noted. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liablility in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and 
estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations 
of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting 
judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to 
the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below..  
 
COVID-19  
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that COVID-19 has had, or may have, on the company 
based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, 
customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the company operates. Other than as addressed in 
specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or 
any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the company unfavourably as at 
the reporting date or subsequently as a result of COVID-19. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
Lease term  
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or 
purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when 
ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances 
that create an economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are 
considered at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include the importance of the asset to the 
company's operations; comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant 
penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The 
company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination 
option, if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances. 

Incremental borrowing rate  
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated 
to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. Such a rate is based on what the company estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic 
environment. 
 

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
 

In the current year, the Company has applied amendment to AASBs issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 July 2019, and 
therefore relevant for the current year end. 
 
New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the current year that are relevant to the 
Company include AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit-Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,  AASB 16 Leases and 
the relevant amending standards. 
 
AASB 1058 ‘Income of Not-for-Profit Entities’ and AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 

In the current year, the Company has applied AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers from 1 July 2019 using the modified retrospective approach where the comparative period 
information is not restated. The Company has also elected to apply AASB 1058 and AASB 15 retrospectively only to 
contracts and transactions that are not ‘completed contracts’ as at 1 January 2019. 
 

The application of the new revenue standards resulted in a net transition adjustment of $60,000 to opening retained 
earnings. Revenue of $535,000 was recognised in opening retained earnings in respect of grants that were deferred 
as at 30 June 2019, however determined on transition to be amounts that should be subject to immediate income 
recognition under AASB 1058. A distribution expense of $475,000 was also recognised in respect of an amount that 
is distributable to the operating sections. 
 
Overview of AASB 1058 and AASB 15 requirements 
 
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for profit (NFP) entities, in 
conjunction with AASB 15. The new income recognition requirements shift the focus from a reciprocal/non-
reciprocal basis to a basis of assessment that considers the enforceability of a contract and the specificity of 
performance obligations.  
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1. General information  
 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the company) is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and 
operating in Australia. 
 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows:  
 

Registered office and principal place of business 
Level 2 
10 – 12 Brisbane Ave 
Barton ACT 2600 

 
The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (RFDS) in the course of the financial year as a health 
care charity and public benevolent institution was to support the RFDS Sections and Operations in the delivery of 
preventive and other health services for the provision of relief to people in rural and remote areas of Australia.  No 
significant changes in the nature of this activity occurred during the year.  
 
2. Significant accounting policies  
 
Statement of compliance 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements, and comply with other requirements of the law.  For the pur poses of preparing the 
financial statements, the company is a not-for-profit entity.  
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 2 November 2020.  
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, 
unless otherwise noted. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liablility in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and 
estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations 
of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting 
judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to 
the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below..  
 
COVID-19  
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that COVID-19 has had, or may have, on the company 
based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, 
customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the company operates. Other than as addressed in 
specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or 
any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the company unfavourably as at 
the reporting date or subsequently as a result of COVID-19. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
Lease term  
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or 
purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when 
ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances 
that create an economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are 
considered at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include the importance of the asset to the 
company's operations; comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant 
penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The 
company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination 
option, if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances. 

Incremental borrowing rate  
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated 
to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. Such a rate is based on what the company estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic 
environment. 
 

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
 

In the current year, the Company has applied amendment to AASBs issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 July 2019, and 
therefore relevant for the current year end. 
 
New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the current year that are relevant to the 
Company include AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit-Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,  AASB 16 Leases and 
the relevant amending standards. 
 
AASB 1058 ‘Income of Not-for-Profit Entities’ and AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 

In the current year, the Company has applied AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers from 1 July 2019 using the modified retrospective approach where the comparative period 
information is not restated. The Company has also elected to apply AASB 1058 and AASB 15 retrospectively only to 
contracts and transactions that are not ‘completed contracts’ as at 1 January 2019. 
 

The application of the new revenue standards resulted in a net transition adjustment of $60,000 to opening retained 
earnings. Revenue of $535,000 was recognised in opening retained earnings in respect of grants that were deferred 
as at 30 June 2019, however determined on transition to be amounts that should be subject to immediate income 
recognition under AASB 1058. A distribution expense of $475,000 was also recognised in respect of an amount that 
is distributable to the operating sections. 
 
Overview of AASB 1058 and AASB 15 requirements 
 
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for profit (NFP) entities, in 
conjunction with AASB 15. The new income recognition requirements shift the focus from a reciprocal/non-
reciprocal basis to a basis of assessment that considers the enforceability of a contract and the specificity of 
performance obligations.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted (continued) 
 
The core principle of the new income recognition requirements in AASB 1058 is that when a NFP entity enters into 
transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset 
principally to enable the entity to further its objectives, the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) over any 
‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately. An example of a ‘related amount’ is AASB 15 and in cases 
where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations, 
income is recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied under AASB 15, as opposed to any 
excess above the related amounts that would be immediate income recognition under AASB 1058.  
 
Under AASB 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 'control' 
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. AASB 15 
introduces a 5- step approach to revenue recognition, which is more prescriptive than AASB 118. 

General impact of application  

The Company has applied the new income requirements to its main revenue streams, as listed below: 

• Government and other grants 

• Donations  

Government grants

AASB 1058 requires that in cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ 
performance obligations, the transaction should be accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when 
(or as) the performance obligations are satisfied, as opposed to immediate income recognition under AASB 1058.  

 
The Company has conducted an analysis of the government grant contracts and analysed the terms of each 
contract to determine whether the arrangement meets the enforceability and the ‘sufficiently specific’ criteria 
under AASB 15. For those grant contracts that are not enforceable or the performance obligations are not 
sufficiently specific, this will result in immediate income recognition under AASB 1058. Income will be deferred 
under AASB 15 otherwise and recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied. 

Donations and other contributions
Based on an analysis of the company’s underlying arrangements for donations as at 1 July 2019, the company has 
assessed that the adoption of the new income requirements do not have a significant impact on the amounts 
recognised in the company’s financial statements. Donations that do not meet the ‘enforceability’ and the 
‘sufficiently specific’ criteria to fall in scope under AASB 15 would therefore be recognised as income once the 
company controlled the relevant asset (assuming no other related amounts are applicable) under AASB 1058, which 
is in line with the current income recognition under AASB 1004. 
 
AASB 16 Leases 
 
The company has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. AASB 16 provides 
a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements 
for both lessors and lessees. The standard replaced AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees has eliminated the 
classifications of operating leases and finance leases.  

 
AASB 16 has changed how the company accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 17, 
which were off balance sheet. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
AASB 16 Leases (continued) 
 
On initial application of AASB 16, for all leases in scope, the company: 
• Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, initially measured at the 

present value of the future lease payments; 
• Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement of profit or loss; 
• Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest 

(presented within operating activities) in the statement of cash flows; and 
• Recognises the present value of the lease payments on the statement of financial position classified between 

current and non current repayments. 
 
On initial application of AASB 16, using the transitional rules available, the company elected to record right-of-use 
assets based on the corresponding lease liability adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial position before the date of initial application. The 
impact of the transition to AASB 16 on 1 July 2019 was to recognise right-of-use assets of $347,123 and lease 
liabilities of $347,123.  When measuring lease liabilities, the company discounted lease payments using its 
incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019, being the weighted-average rate of 3.75% being applied. 
 
The company has applied to practical expedient available to continue to expense lease payments for low value 
leases in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
report:  
 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.   

 
(b) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
i.  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as 

part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is classified within operating cash flows. 

 
(c) Revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  

When the Company receives government grants, donations and bequests that are in the scope of AASB 1058 
(being a transaction where the consideration paid to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value 
principally to enable the Company to further its objectives) , it performs an assessment to determine if the 
contract is ‘enforceable’ and contains ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations.  

In cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance 
obligations, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when (or as) the 
performance obligations are satisfied. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted (continued) 
 
The core principle of the new income recognition requirements in AASB 1058 is that when a NFP entity enters into 
transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset 
principally to enable the entity to further its objectives, the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) over any 
‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately. An example of a ‘related amount’ is AASB 15 and in cases 
where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations, 
income is recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied under AASB 15, as opposed to any 
excess above the related amounts that would be immediate income recognition under AASB 1058.  
 
Under AASB 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 'control' 
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. AASB 15 
introduces a 5- step approach to revenue recognition, which is more prescriptive than AASB 118. 

General impact of application  

The Company has applied the new income requirements to its main revenue streams, as listed below: 

• Government and other grants 

• Donations  

Government grants

AASB 1058 requires that in cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ 
performance obligations, the transaction should be accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when 
(or as) the performance obligations are satisfied, as opposed to immediate income recognition under AASB 1058.  

 
The Company has conducted an analysis of the government grant contracts and analysed the terms of each 
contract to determine whether the arrangement meets the enforceability and the ‘sufficiently specific’ criteria 
under AASB 15. For those grant contracts that are not enforceable or the performance obligations are not 
sufficiently specific, this will result in immediate income recognition under AASB 1058. Income will be deferred 
under AASB 15 otherwise and recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied. 

Donations and other contributions
Based on an analysis of the company’s underlying arrangements for donations as at 1 July 2019, the company has 
assessed that the adoption of the new income requirements do not have a significant impact on the amounts 
recognised in the company’s financial statements. Donations that do not meet the ‘enforceability’ and the 
‘sufficiently specific’ criteria to fall in scope under AASB 15 would therefore be recognised as income once the 
company controlled the relevant asset (assuming no other related amounts are applicable) under AASB 1058, which 
is in line with the current income recognition under AASB 1004. 
 
AASB 16 Leases 
 
The company has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. AASB 16 provides 
a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements 
for both lessors and lessees. The standard replaced AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees has eliminated the 
classifications of operating leases and finance leases.  

 
AASB 16 has changed how the company accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 17, 
which were off balance sheet. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
AASB 16 Leases (continued) 
 
On initial application of AASB 16, for all leases in scope, the company: 
• Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, initially measured at the 

present value of the future lease payments; 
• Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement of profit or loss; 
• Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest 

(presented within operating activities) in the statement of cash flows; and 
• Recognises the present value of the lease payments on the statement of financial position classified between 

current and non current repayments. 
 
On initial application of AASB 16, using the transitional rules available, the company elected to record right-of-use 
assets based on the corresponding lease liability adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial position before the date of initial application. The 
impact of the transition to AASB 16 on 1 July 2019 was to recognise right-of-use assets of $347,123 and lease 
liabilities of $347,123.  When measuring lease liabilities, the company discounted lease payments using its 
incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019, being the weighted-average rate of 3.75% being applied. 
 
The company has applied to practical expedient available to continue to expense lease payments for low value 
leases in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
report:  
 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.   

 
(b) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
i.  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as 

part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is classified within operating cash flows. 

 
(c) Revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  

When the Company receives government grants, donations and bequests that are in the scope of AASB 1058 
(being a transaction where the consideration paid to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value 
principally to enable the Company to further its objectives) , it performs an assessment to determine if the 
contract is ‘enforceable’ and contains ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations.  

In cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance 
obligations, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when (or as) the 
performance obligations are satisfied. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(c) Revenue (continued) 

In all other cases (where the contract is not ‘enforceable’ or the performance obligations are not ‘sufficiently 
specific’), the transaction is accounted for under AASB 1058 where the Company:  

• Recognises the asset in accordance with the requirements of other relevant applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards (e.g. AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138). 
 

• Considers whether any other financial statement elements should be recognised (‘related amounts’) in 
accordance with the relevant applicable Australian Accounting Standard including:  

o contributions by owners (AASB 1004)  
o a lease liability (AASB 16) o a financial instrument (AASB 9)  
o a provision (AASB 137)  

 
• Recognises income immediately in profit or loss for the excess of the initial carrying amount of the asset 

over any related amounts recognised. 
 
Interest income  
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 
 
In-kind contributions 

The Company regularly receives volunteer services as part of its operations. Under AASB 1058, private sector 
not-for-profit entities have a policy option to account for donated services at fair value if the fair value can be 
reliably measured.  
The Company has decided to adopt the policy option not to recognise volunteer services. Accordingly, no 
amounts are recognised in the financial statements for volunteer services. As part of its operations, the 
Company receives donations of goods which may then be used in its activities. AASB 102 requires the donated 
inventories to be measured at current replacement cost and any related amounts to be accounted for under 
AASB 1058. 
 
Dividend income 
Dividends are recognised as income when the right to receive payment is established. 

 
 

(d) Income tax 
The company is exempt from the payment of income tax. 

 
(e) Trust fund liability 
 The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties. 
 
(f) Financial instruments  

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Non-derivative financial assets 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  
 
The entity’s financial assets include trade receivables measured at amortised cost, investments in listed 
equities classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, term deposits and cash and cash 
equivalents. 
 
Derecognition of financial asset 
The entity derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
Classification of financial liabilities 
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at 
FVTPL. The entity’s financial liabilities include trade payables measured at amortised cost.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The entity derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the entity’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(c) Revenue (continued) 

In all other cases (where the contract is not ‘enforceable’ or the performance obligations are not ‘sufficiently 
specific’), the transaction is accounted for under AASB 1058 where the Company:  

• Recognises the asset in accordance with the requirements of other relevant applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards (e.g. AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138). 
 

• Considers whether any other financial statement elements should be recognised (‘related amounts’) in 
accordance with the relevant applicable Australian Accounting Standard including:  

o contributions by owners (AASB 1004)  
o a lease liability (AASB 16) o a financial instrument (AASB 9)  
o a provision (AASB 137)  

 
• Recognises income immediately in profit or loss for the excess of the initial carrying amount of the asset 

over any related amounts recognised. 
 
Interest income  
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 
 
In-kind contributions 

The Company regularly receives volunteer services as part of its operations. Under AASB 1058, private sector 
not-for-profit entities have a policy option to account for donated services at fair value if the fair value can be 
reliably measured.  
The Company has decided to adopt the policy option not to recognise volunteer services. Accordingly, no 
amounts are recognised in the financial statements for volunteer services. As part of its operations, the 
Company receives donations of goods which may then be used in its activities. AASB 102 requires the donated 
inventories to be measured at current replacement cost and any related amounts to be accounted for under 
AASB 1058. 
 
Dividend income 
Dividends are recognised as income when the right to receive payment is established. 

 
 

(d) Income tax 
The company is exempt from the payment of income tax. 

 
(e) Trust fund liability 
 The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties. 
 
(f) Financial instruments  

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Non-derivative financial assets 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  
 
The entity’s financial assets include trade receivables measured at amortised cost, investments in listed 
equities classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, term deposits and cash and cash 
equivalents. 
 
Derecognition of financial asset 
The entity derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
Classification of financial liabilities 
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at 
FVTPL. The entity’s financial liabilities include trade payables measured at amortised cost.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The entity derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the entity’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(g) Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale and carried as current assets if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is highly 
probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset to fair value less costs 
to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset but not in 
excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by 
the date of the sale of the non-current asset is recognised at the date of derecognition. 
 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the statement 
of financial position, in current assets. The liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 
are also presented separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

 
(h)  Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial position at their historical cost.  Depreciation is 
provided on plant and equipment and is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost of 
each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 
 
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The following rates are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
Office equipment   15% – 33% 
Leasehold improvements  60% 
Software    33% 
 

(i) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material). 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Leased assets 
 

Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured 
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
costs incurred,  an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying 
asset, and restoring the site or asset. 

 
Right-of-use assets (continued) 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the company expects to obtain ownership 
of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of-
use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
Lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised 
at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the 
company's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be 
paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is 
reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties.  
 
When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

(k) Employee benefits 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and 
long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured 
reliably. Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are 
measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months 
are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the company in respect 
of services provided by employees up to reporting date. 

 
(l) Impairment of tangible assets  

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(g) Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale and carried as current assets if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is highly 
probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset to fair value less costs 
to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset but not in 
excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by 
the date of the sale of the non-current asset is recognised at the date of derecognition. 
 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the statement 
of financial position, in current assets. The liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 
are also presented separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

 
(h)  Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial position at their historical cost.  Depreciation is 
provided on plant and equipment and is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost of 
each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 
 
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The following rates are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
Office equipment   15% – 33% 
Leasehold improvements  60% 
Software    33% 
 

(i) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material). 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Leased assets 
 

Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured 
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
costs incurred,  an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying 
asset, and restoring the site or asset. 

 
Right-of-use assets (continued) 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the company expects to obtain ownership 
of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of-
use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
Lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised 
at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the 
company's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be 
paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is 
reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties.  
 
When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

(k) Employee benefits 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and 
long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured 
reliably. Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are 
measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months 
are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the company in respect 
of services provided by employees up to reporting date. 

 
(l) Impairment of tangible assets  

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash 
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 

(m) Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.  The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.  
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

 
(n) New and revised Australian Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in 
issue but not yet adopted.  

Standard/Interpretation 

 
Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after 

 
Expected to be initially 

applied in the financial year 
ending 

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Definition of a Business 
 

 
1 January 2020 

 
30 June 2021 

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Definition of Material  
 

 
1 January 2020 

 
30 June 2021 

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework 
 

 
1 January 2020 

 
30 June 2021 

AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform effective 1 
January 2020 

1 January 2020 30 June 2021 

AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure of the Effect of New IFRS Standards 
Not Yet Issued in Australia  

1 January 2020 30 June 2021 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current  
 

1 January 2022 30 June 2023 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other 
Amendments  
 

1 January 2022 30 June 2023 

 
The directors have not yet assessed the impacts of the new standards. 
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3. Segment information  
 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia operates predominantly in one business segment being the provision of 
support to the operational Sections in the provision of health service in Australia. 
 
4. Revenue 
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows:  

 2020 2019 

Operating revenue $ $ 
Contributions from sections 1,560,000 1,410,000 
Australian Government Operational Grants 73,104,804 73,123,157 
Australian Government Mental Health Grant 5,756,000 2,839,000 
Australian Government Dental Program Grant  5,865,704 5,570,869 
Australian Government GP Registrar 349,956 574,010 
Australian Government MyHR - 180,000 
Australian Government Better Ageing 475,000 - 
Australian Government COVID-19 6,193,404 - 
Donations and legacies 5,527,633 5,023,091 
   
 98,832,501 88,720,126 
   

Other operating income   
Interest 23,985 149,539 
Dividend income 130 264 
Other items 189,566 143,367 
Fair value gain on asset classified as held for sale  - 88,000 
Gain on disposal of financial assets  - - 
    
 213,681 381,170 
    
Total revenue 99,046,182 89,101,296 

 
 
The company entered into an agreement with the Commonwealth to provide additional services as a consequence 
of COVID-19 in April 2020. The company did not receive any government incentives in relation to COVID-19 for the 
year ended 30 June 2020.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash 
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 

(m) Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.  The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.  
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

 
(n) New and revised Australian Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in 
issue but not yet adopted.  

Standard/Interpretation 

 
Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after 

 
Expected to be initially 

applied in the financial year 
ending 

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Definition of a Business 
 

 
1 January 2020 

 
30 June 2021 

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Definition of Material  
 

 
1 January 2020 

 
30 June 2021 

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework 
 

 
1 January 2020 

 
30 June 2021 

AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform effective 1 
January 2020 

1 January 2020 30 June 2021 

AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure of the Effect of New IFRS Standards 
Not Yet Issued in Australia  

1 January 2020 30 June 2021 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current  
 

1 January 2022 30 June 2023 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other 
Amendments  
 

1 January 2022 30 June 2023 

 
The directors have not yet assessed the impacts of the new standards. 
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3. Segment information  
 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia operates predominantly in one business segment being the provision of 
support to the operational Sections in the provision of health service in Australia. 
 
4. Revenue 
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows:  

 2020 2019 

Operating revenue $ $ 
Contributions from sections 1,560,000 1,410,000 
Australian Government Operational Grants 73,104,804 73,123,157 
Australian Government Mental Health Grant 5,756,000 2,839,000 
Australian Government Dental Program Grant  5,865,704 5,570,869 
Australian Government GP Registrar 349,956 574,010 
Australian Government MyHR - 180,000 
Australian Government Better Ageing 475,000 - 
Australian Government COVID-19 6,193,404 - 
Donations and legacies 5,527,633 5,023,091 
   
 98,832,501 88,720,126 
   

Other operating income   
Interest 23,985 149,539 
Dividend income 130 264 
Other items 189,566 143,367 
Fair value gain on asset classified as held for sale  - 88,000 
Gain on disposal of financial assets  - - 
    
 213,681 381,170 
    
Total revenue 99,046,182 89,101,296 

 
 
The company entered into an agreement with the Commonwealth to provide additional services as a consequence 
of COVID-19 in April 2020. The company did not receive any government incentives in relation to COVID-19 for the 
year ended 30 June 2020.  
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5. Expenses included in (deficit) / surplus from operations 
 2020 2019 

 $ $ 
(Deficit) / Surplus from operations for the year includes the following expenses: 
   

Depreciation and amortisation of PPE 49,409 46,232  
Depreciation of Right of Use Assets 89,389 -  
     
Minimum lease payments - 106,009  
Low value leases expensed as incurred 5,792 -  
     
Employee benefits expense:     
Post employment benefits     
    - Defined contribution plans 146,407 138,356  
Other employee benefits 1,846,196 1,840,692  
    
 1,992,603 1,979,048  

 
6. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

National Office Cash     
     
Federal account 350,929 158,558 
Trust donation account 1,816,161 1,739,939 
Professional funds account 2,520,468 1,477,690 
   
 4,687,558 3,376,187 
Trust Fund Assets   
   
Commonwealth Funds – General Account (i) 1,806,730 47,165,754 
   
 1,806,730 47,165,754 
   
 6,494,288 50,541,941 

 
Included in the 30 June 2019 Trust Fund Asset balance is an amount of $45,166,550 relating to the first 6 months of 
funding received from the Department of Health which has been recorded in deferred income. 
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7. Trade and other receivables  
 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Other receivables 3,333,484 248,719 
GST receivable 182,869 221,004 
     
 3,516,353 469,723 

   
The average credit period is 30 days. 
 
 
Prepayments 
 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Prepayments to operating sections 5,894,934 - 
Other prepayments 109,211 160,968 
     
 6,094,145 160,968 

   
Included in the 30 June 2020 prepayment balance is an amount for COVID-19 funding paid in advance to the operating 
sections in respect of the contract with the Commonwealth.  A corresponding amount has been recognised by the 
company as deferred income. 
 
 
8.    Leases

  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
    
Right-of-use assets  347,123 - 
Less: accumulated depreciation  (89,389) - 
    
  257,733 - 

Current  
  

Lease liabilities   56,482 - 
    
Non-current    
Lease liabilities                206,868 - 

 
 
Contractual maturities of undiscounted lease liabilities as at 30 June 2020 is set below: 
Less than a year  71,381 90,637 
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  225,797 10,445 
    
  297,177 101,082 
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5. Expenses included in (deficit) / surplus from operations 
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funding received from the Department of Health which has been recorded in deferred income. 
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7. Trade and other receivables  
 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Other receivables 3,333,484 248,719 
GST receivable 182,869 221,004 
     
 3,516,353 469,723 

   
The average credit period is 30 days. 
 
 
Prepayments 
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Prepayments to operating sections 5,894,934 - 
Other prepayments 109,211 160,968 
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Included in the 30 June 2020 prepayment balance is an amount for COVID-19 funding paid in advance to the operating 
sections in respect of the contract with the Commonwealth.  A corresponding amount has been recognised by the 
company as deferred income. 
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Right-of-use assets  347,123 - 
Less: accumulated depreciation  (89,389) - 
    
  257,733 - 

Current  
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Non-current    
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Less than a year  71,381 90,637 
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  297,177 101,082 
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8.    Leases (continued)
 
The impact of adoption on opening lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 was as follows: 
 
Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019  101,082  
Add: inclusion of option in lease term  257,414  
Less: effect of discounting  (928)  
Less: low value leases  (10,445)  
    
Opening lease liability as at 1 July 2019  347,123  

 
 
9. Plant and equipment 
 

 
Leasehold 

improvements Plant and equipment   
Software Total 

at cost at cost at cost 
 $ $ $ $ 
     

Gross carrying amount     

Balance at 1 July 2018 11,037 411,807 55,800 478,644 
Additions - 17,464 - 17,464 
        
Balance at 1 July 2019 11,037 429,271 55,800 469,108 
Additions - 10,248 - 10,248 
        
Balance at 30 June 2020 11,037 439,519 55,800 506,356 
     

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation 

    

Balance at 1 July 2018 11,037 350,507 - 361,544 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense - 37,025 9,207 46,232 

        
Balance at 1 July 2019 11,037 387,532 9,207 407,776 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense - 30,995 18,414 49,409 

        
Balance at 30 June 2020 11,037 418,527 27,621 457,185 
     

Net book value     

 
As at 30 June 2019 - 41,738 46,593 88,332 

As at 30 June 2020 - 20,992 28,179 49,171 
     

 
Leasehold improvements represent the make good provision and are non-cash. 
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10. Assets classified as held for sale 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Current   
Assets classified as held for sale – investment property - 225,000 

 
 
 
11. Other financial assets 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Current 
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 7,027 7,027 
   
Non Current   
Rental Bond deposit and other 14,937 25,419 
   
 21,964 32,446 

 
12. Trade and other payables 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

 
  

Trade payables (i) 493,221 146,524 
Accruals and other payables – operating sections 5,064,654 1,289,754 
Accruals and other payables – third parties 442,240 85,013 
   
 6,000,115 1,521,291 

 
(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on overdue payables. The 

Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit 
timeframe. 
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8.    Leases (continued)
 
The impact of adoption on opening lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 was as follows: 
 
Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019  101,082  
Add: inclusion of option in lease term  257,414  
Less: effect of discounting  (928)  
Less: low value leases  (10,445)  
    
Opening lease liability as at 1 July 2019  347,123  

 
 
9. Plant and equipment 
 

 
Leasehold 

improvements Plant and equipment   
Software Total 

at cost at cost at cost 
 $ $ $ $ 
     

Gross carrying amount     

Balance at 1 July 2018 11,037 411,807 55,800 478,644 
Additions - 17,464 - 17,464 
        
Balance at 1 July 2019 11,037 429,271 55,800 469,108 
Additions - 10,248 - 10,248 
        
Balance at 30 June 2020 11,037 439,519 55,800 506,356 
     

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation 

    

Balance at 1 July 2018 11,037 350,507 - 361,544 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense - 37,025 9,207 46,232 

        
Balance at 1 July 2019 11,037 387,532 9,207 407,776 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense - 30,995 18,414 49,409 

        
Balance at 30 June 2020 11,037 418,527 27,621 457,185 
     

Net book value     

 
As at 30 June 2019 - 41,738 46,593 88,332 

As at 30 June 2020 - 20,992 28,179 49,171 
     

 
Leasehold improvements represent the make good provision and are non-cash. 
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10. Assets classified as held for sale 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Current   
Assets classified as held for sale – investment property - 225,000 

 
 
 
11. Other financial assets 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Current 
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 7,027 7,027 
   
Non Current   
Rental Bond deposit and other 14,937 25,419 
   
 21,964 32,446 

 
12. Trade and other payables 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 
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Accruals and other payables – third parties 442,240 85,013 
   
 6,000,115 1,521,291 

 
(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on overdue payables. The 

Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit 
timeframe. 
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13. Provisions 
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Employee benefits:   
Annual leave 126,481 159,216 
Long service leave 122,113 89,632 
Make good provision in operating lease 33,902 33,902 
    
 282,496 282,750 
   

The above liability is recognised and included in the financial statements as follows: 
 

   

Current 126,481 159,216 
Non-Current 156,015 123,534 
    
 282,496 282,750 

 
   
 No. No. 
 
Number of full-time equivalent employees at the year end 

 
11.5 

 
13 

 
 
 
14. Trust fund liability 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
   
Commonwealth Funds 99,562 266,088 
   
 99,562 266,088 

 
15. Contributed equity 
 
No contributed equity has been issued as the company is limited by guarantee.  If the company is wound up, the 
liability of the members is limited to $2 in meeting the liabilities of the company.  At 30 June 2020 the number of 
members was 9 (2019: 9). 
 
 
16. Retained earnings   
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

 
  

Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,931,363 2,983,003 
Adjustment on transition to AASB 15 & AASB 1058 60,000 - 
(Deficit) / surplus for the year 258,998 (51,640) 
   

Balance at end of the financial year 3,250,361 2,931,363 
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17. Notes to the statement of cash flows 
 
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and 
on deposit. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

     
Federal account 350,929 158,558 
Trust donation account 1,816,161 1,739,939 
Professional funds account 2,520,468 1,477,690 
Commonwealth Funds - general account 1,806,730 

 
47,165,754 

  
   
Cash and cash equivalents 6,494,288 50,541,941 

 
 
(b) Reconciliation of (deficit) /  surplus for the year to  
 net cash flows from operating activities 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

   

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year 258,995 (51,640) 

    
Interest received / receivable (23,985) (149,539) 
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 138,798 46,232 
Dividend income received/ receivable (130) (264) 
Fair value gain on assets classified as held for sale 225,000 (88,000) 
Interest expense 11,577 - 
   
Changes in net assets and liabilities   
(Increase) / decrease in assets:   
Trade and other receivables (3,084,765) (472,179) 
Other assets (5,922,690) (83,842) 
Financial assets - - 
 
Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:   

Trade and other payables 4,275,953 (36,771) 
 Provisions (254) 40,671 
Deferred Income  (39,844,669) 43,106,811 

 
   

Net cash provided by operating activities (43,966,170) 42,291,479 
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18. Financial instruments  
 
(a)  Capital risk management 
The company manages its capital to ensure it will continue as a going concern.  The company’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged from prior year.  The capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents and 
retained earnings.  Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the operations of the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia. 
 
b)  Categories of financial instruments 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents  6,187,558 3,376,187 
Trust fund assets  306,730 47,165,754 
Trade and other receivables  3,516,353 469,723 
Other financial assets   21,964 32,446 
   
Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables 6,000,115 1,595,770 
Trust fund liability 99,562 266,088 

 
 
(c) Financial risk management objectives 
The company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes. The company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates 
and currency risk which is mitigated through the use of derivative financial instruments. 
 
(d) Significant accounting policies 
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements. 
 
(e)  Fair value of financial instruments 
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements approximates their fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 
to the financial statements. 
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19. Key management personnel compensation  
 
The directors and other members of key management personnel of the company during the year were: 
 
Directors 
Amanda Vanstone (Resigned 15 November 2019) 
Neville Power (Appointed 10 December 2019) 
John O’Donnell (Appointed 10 December 2019) 
Kristopher Rallah-Baker 
Loretta Reynolds 
Malcolm White (Resigned 26 August 2019 and Appointed 15 November 2019) 
Denis Gordon Henry  
Alan Mark Gray  
Saul Harben (Appointed 30 August 2019) 
Elaine Ruth Sandow  
Caroline Wells (Appointed 26 August 2019 and resigned 15 November 2019) 
 
Other key management personnel 
Martin Laverty, Chief Executive Officer until 23 August 2019 
Malcolm White, Acting Chief Executive Office from 26 August 2019 to 15 November 2019 
Frank Quinlan, Chief Executive Officer from 15 November 2019 
David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
Lauren Gale, Director Policy and Planning until 2 September 2019 
 
The aggregate compensation made to other key management personnel of the company is set out below: 
 

 2020 2019 
 $ 

   
Aggregate employee benefits 790,641 947,714 

   
The directors received no compensation for their services to the company in respect of the financial year. 
 
 
20. Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority Conditions pursuant to the 

Charitable Fundraising Act 1991  
 2020 2019 

$ $ 
Gross income from fundraising:   
Donations and legacies 5,527,635 5,023,090 
   
Total costs of fundraising (134,605) (133,157) 

Funds disbursed for Royal Flying Doctor projects (5,227,635) (4,815,550) 

Excess of total income from fundraising over funds disbursed 165,395 74,383 
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20. Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority Conditions pursuant to the 

Charitable Fundraising Act 1991  (continued) 
 

 % % 
   

Total costs to gross income from fundraising 2.44 2.65 
Net excess to gross income from fundraising 2.99 1.48 
 
Total disbursements for projects to total expenditure 94.57 97.31 

Total disbursements for projects to total income received 97.01 95.87 

 
  

It is the policy of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia to distribute all donations, legacies and sponsorships 
which comprise its fundraising activities to each of its Sections, other than an amount approved by Board Resolution 
to be retained by the National Office up to $300,000 per annum. Given the nature of these activities, it has minimal 
costs associated with fundraising.  Furthermore, due to the timing of receipts and payments it is considered 
reasonable that gross income may exceed funds disbursed or that funds disbursed may exceed gross income at year 
end. 
 
 
21. Remuneration of auditors 
 
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditors from the company and any related body corporate is as 
follows: 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Auditing the financial statements and grant funding agreements  39,000 37,850 
Consulting and other assurance services   149,725 44,835 
    
  188,725 75,131 

 
The auditor of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. 
 

 
22. Related party disclosures 
 
During the current financial year, there were no related party transactions or balances at the year-end other than 
transactions with the RFDS Sections and Operations which are disclosed in this financial report. 
 
The RFDS Sections and Operations are: 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia Central Operations 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (Queensland Section) 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (South Eastern Section) 
Royal Flying Doctor Service Tasmania Ltd 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (Victorian Section) 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (Western Operations) 
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23. Subsequent events  

COVID-19 was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health Organisation. Subsequent to the end of 
the financial year, the quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and other governments as well as the travel 
and trade restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries in early 2020 have caused disruption to businesses 
and economic activity.  
 
The company received additional funding from the Commonwealth in respect of COVID-19 in FY20 and is expected 
to continue receive additional funding as and when services are delivered through the contract term to 30 June 2021.  
 
The extent of the future impact of COVID-19 on the company’s operational and financial performance will depend 
on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, regulations imposed by governments, 
and the impact on the activities of the Royal Flying Doctor Service’s operating sections,  all of which are uncertain 
and cannot be predicted at this time.
 
Other than the matter noted above, therehas not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to 
the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may affect, the operations of the company, the results 
of those operations or the state of affairs of the company in future financial years. 
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The RFDS journey is one 
of innovation, grit and 
determination. It is about 
the patient regardless 
of the challenges 
that presents. 

RFDS research 
and collaboration 
with governments, 
industry, partners 
and communities will 
continue to overcome 
the disparity in health 
outcomes for people 
in the bush.

Q
U

E
E

N
S

L
A

N
D

W

ESTERN 

C
E

N
T

R
A

L 

TASM
A

N
IA

N

VICTORIAN

S
O

U
T

H
 EASTERN

FEDERATION

Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2019/2056





ABN 74 438 059 643

How you can help >
While the Royal Flying Doctor Service receives some support from Australian,  

state and territory governments, we rely heavily on fundraising and donations from the 

community to purchase and medically equip our aircraft and to support other health initiatives.

To make a donation:

> Send a cheque (made payable to the  
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to: 
PO Box 4350 
Kingston ACT 2604

> Phone us on 02 6269 5500 or 1800 467 435

> Visit flyingdoctor.org.au to make an online donation

 flyingdoctor.org.au

 facebook.com/royalflyingdoctorservice

 @RoyalFlyingDoc

Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia
Federation Office 
Level 2, 10–12 Brisbane Avenue, 
Barton ACT 2600 
T 02 6269 5500 
W www.flyingdoctor.org.au


